RECEIVED

Mar 18 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from York County

Honorable William A. McKinnon, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

TERRY SHAIMEK TYLER,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2021-001316

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

JESSICA M. SAXON  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

I. Whether Appellant's sentence to an aggregate term of sixty years imprisonment, a *de facto* life sentence, for non-homicide offenses he committed as a juvenile during a single incident is violative of the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution?

II. Whether Appellant's sentence of an aggregate term of sixty years imprisonment, a *de facto* life sentence, for non-homicide offenses he committed as a juvenile during a single incident is violative of the Article 1, Section 15 of the South Carolina Constitution?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 15, 2019, Appellant, was charged with the sexual assault, kidnapping, and robbery of E.P. Appellant was sixteen years old at the time of the incident and under then-existing law was automatically charged as an adult. During the June 2019 term of the York County grand jury, Appellant was indicted for one count of criminal sexual conduct, first degree, one count of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, one count of kidnapping, one count of armed robbery, one count of grand larceny, \$10,000 or more, and one count of unlawful possession of a firearm by a minor. R. 236. On July 8, 2021, Appellant appeared before the Honorable William McKinnon to enter a guilty plea to the charges as indicted. R. 1. The State was represented by Sharon Ohayon. Appellant was represented by Zachary Merritt. R. 1. After a thorough plea colloquy, Judge McKinnon accepted Appellant's guilty plea. Sentencing was deferred to a later date. R. 1-12.

On August 16, 2021, the parties<sup>1</sup> reconvened before Judge McKinnon for a sentencing hearing. R. 20. At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge McKinnon sentenced Appellant to thirty-year terms of incarceration on the criminal sexual conduct charge and the armed robbery charge, to be run consecutively. Concurrent to the two thirty-year sentences, Appellant was additionally sentenced to thirty-years' imprisonment on the kidnapping charge, ten-years' imprisonment on the grand larceny charge, and five years each on the two weapons charges. R. 116, 1. 19-R. 117, 1. 25.

Counsel Merritt filed a motion to reconsider and reduce Appellant's sentences on August 26, 2021, along with a memorandum in support of the motion which included numerous affidavits in support of resentencing. R. 127-131; R. 132-225. The State filed a motion in

---

<sup>1</sup> In addition to Sharon Ohayon, the State was also represented by Christopher Epting and Betty Ann Miller during the sentencing hearing. R. 20.

opposition on October 5, 2021. R. 226-228. By written order filed on October 28, 2021, Judge McKinnon declined to disturb the original sentence and denied the motion to reconsider. R. 229-235.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In the early morning hours of February 15, 2019, sixteen-year-old<sup>2</sup> Appellant kidnapped, sexually assaulted, and robbed E.P., a student enrolled at Winthrop University while armed with a handgun. Surveillance cameras captured portions of the incident, including the initial kidnapping and Appellant driving away in E.P.'s vehicle for approximately twenty to twenty-five minutes. R. 24, l. 23-R. 26, l. 19.

The Rock Hill Police Department was able to utilize license plate tag readers to track E.P.'s vehicle throughout the Charlotte area. When the vehicle was stopped around 11:00 a.m. that same morning, the driver was identified as Appellant. The occupants were several of his friends. Appellant was arrested, and during questioning about the incident stated that an individual named "Body-Bag" forced him to commit the sexual assault after he observed "Body-Bag" commit a murder. Detectives investigated Appellant's story but found no homicides that matched the description he had given. Detectives were able to identify "Body-Bag", a forty-something-year-old man who was well known in the Rock Hill area, but he denied knowing Appellant. R. 26, l. 20-R. 27, l. 20.

A Sexual Assault Nurse Examination (SANE) kit was performed on E.P. and Appellant. The forensic results from the SANE kits showed Appellant's D.N.A. inside of E.P. and E.P.'s D.N.A. on Appellant's penis. Additionally, E.P. was presented with a six-person line up and was able to narrow the possible suspects down to two people, one of which was Appellant. R. 31, ll. 19-25. The law at the time required Appellant be charged as an adult, even though he was only sixteen years old. Appellant ultimately pled guilty as indicted to the charges on July 8, 2021, with sentencing deferred until August 16, 2021. R. 1; R. 2, ll. 4-11; R. 10, l. 24-R. 11, l. 22.

---

<sup>2</sup> Appellant was born in October 2002. His sixteenth birthday was four months prior to the incident.

The State began the sentencing hearing by providing a detailed recitation of the facts which included pictures<sup>3</sup> of E.P. after the assault as well as the playing of various video clips from the security cameras and the first responding officer's body camera. R. 24, l. 10-R. 30, l. 9. The State requested that Appellant be given consecutive sentences equaling sixty years, arguing that "[i]f these are the types of crimes he's committing at sixteen, I do not want to see what crimes he is committing as he gets older." R. 33, l. 6-R. 34, l. 7. Two of the investigating officers gave statements about the incident followed by victim impact testimony from E.P. and her parents. R. 37-46. Finally, Deputy Solicitor Betty Ann Miller addressed the court and asked that Appellant "be separated from the rest of us until he is an old man and not a danger to anyone anymore." R. 47, ll. 7-12.

Counsel Merritt made a motion for a sentencing hearing pursuant to Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572, arguing that the sentencing factors expressed in Aiken applied to all juvenile sentencing matters that arose after the case was decided. R. 50-55. The State argued that the factors announced in Aiken did not apply to Appellant's case because he was not facing a life sentence. The State acknowledged that the factors announced in Aiken could have some significance in juvenile sentencing matters in the future, but that currently the factors were not proper considerations for the court to make in fashioning a sentence. R. 62, l. 15-R. 63, l. 2. Counsel Merritt ultimately requested that the sentencing court consider the Aiken factors against the seriousness of Appellant's crimes in fashioning a sentence and asked the court to sentence Appellant to twelve years for the armed robbery followed by a sentence of fifteen years on the

---

<sup>3</sup> Neither the video clips nor the pictures of E.P. were entered into evidence. The State also played Appellant's statement in rebuttal to the testimony provided by Dr. Salas but did not enter the statement into evidence. Therefore, none of the evidence mentioned or referenced by the State during the sentencing hearing is included in the record on appeal before this Court.

criminal sexual conduct charge suspended to probation to include rehabilitative treatment. R. 49, l. 15-R, 59, l. 7.

Dr. Amanda B. Salas, a board-certified Adult, Child and Adolescent, and Forensic Psychiatrist, was retained by Counsel Merritt to evaluate Appellant's juvenility and culpability. (R. Report by Dr. Salas). Dr. Salas provided a five-page written report that contained invaluable and insightful information about Appellant. Appellant had a fairly stable childhood, although his father was not always present in the home due to marital discord. Despite living in Rock Hill, Appellant often visited family in Aiken until his late middle school years when his mother ended the visits upon learning that Appellant had been experimenting with marijuana introduced by peer influences present during the visits. Appellant reported that his first sexual encounter occurred at age seven, when a female ten years older than him sexually abused him. Disturbingly, Appellant did not characterize the incident as abuse and did not see himself as a victim, instead seeing the experience from the viewpoint of being wanted or desired by a peer. As Dr. Salas concluded, touching and intercourse of a seven-year-old at the directive of a person ten years his senior constituted sexual abuse, but because Appellant does not recognize himself as having been abused it is unclear what emotional impact the experience has had on him. R. 122-123.

During the evaluation, Dr. Salas confirmed Appellant's prior diagnosis of ADHD. Appellant's mother reported that his ADHD improved with treatment through stimulant medications, making him calmer and easier to talk to. When not receiving treatment for his ADHD, Appellant was impulsive and more vulnerable to negative peer influence. Notably, once Appellant reached the age where he could decide for himself if he wanted take medication, he opted to stop taking his ADHD medication because kids at school picked on him calling him

“crazy.” Subsequently, Appellant went through “an increase in disruptive behaviors, many of which reflected poor impulse control under negative peer influence.” Appellant admitted to continued use of marijuana because it improved his feelings of anger and aggravation, allowing him to laugh and relax, and because it was acceptable to use marijuana within his peer group. R. 123.

Appellant’s record reflected “circumstances typical of a juvenile in dentition with ADHD and substance use – situations arise in the context of being off effective treatment, away from adequate parental supervision, under the influence of alcohol and/or drugs, and under negative peer influence.” The charges he had pled to occurred under a similar construct. Dr. Salas opined that Appellant’s charges stemmed “from actions made not just by an adolescent brain, but **one wired to have more pronounced problems with impulse control and ability to manifest restraint in real time.**” She stated Appellant’s brain immaturity was further impacted by him being acutely intoxicated on marijuana and encountering a past associate that he did not wish to affiliate with. R. 123 (emphasis added).

The report contained a factual recitation of the incident from Appellant’s point of view. Appellant reported that an individual named “Eli” tricked him into meeting up, talked him into stealing a car, gave him a gun, and told him what type of vehicle to steal. E.P. was driving an SUV that was of interest to Eli, so Appellant followed her and presented the gun. He recounted that she complied with his directions, did not resist walking with him, and did not attempt to gain the attention of others, including police, in the parking lot. According to Appellant, when they arrived at the train tracks, he ordered E.P. to throw her purse on the ground, at which point she begged him not to hurt or kill her and offered to have sex with him. After the sexual encounter,

he returned to the primary goal of getting a vehicle, took her phone and keys, got her SUV, and went looking for Eli. R. 123-124.

Dr. Salas stated that the factors shared in the account given by Appellant reflected his “immaturity and adolescent nature.” She noted that he did not have a plan to accomplish the goal of getting a car and had no plan to use a gun. He in fact saw the gun as a means of protection that evolved into a tool that he could use to influence E.P. Regarding the sexual encounter, she wrote “in the heat of the moment, [Appellant] did not see this as a forced sexual encounter. He was not thinking of sex when they walked to the railroad track. He did not process her offer to have sex with him as a negotiation not to harm her. Instead, [Appellant] genuinely thought the victim was offering him voluntary sex.” R. 124.

Appellant’s “understanding of the criminal behavior in the moment of the crime [was] not sophisticated.” His crime was “a reflection of an underdeveloped adolescent brain characterized by immaturity and impulsivity.” Appellant’s “aberrant impulsivity made it more challenging for him to demonstrate restraint in the thrill of the moment...In short, lack of brain development compounded by untreated ADHD and acute intoxication with marijuana clouded his perception and impaired his decision-making abilities.” R. 124. She wrote that Appellant’s “account of the crime suggests a diminished real time recognition of his acts as wrong, although he recognizes the nature of the charges as serious and **reflects on his actions with remorse.**” R. 125.

Regarding the sexual assault, Dr. Salas opined that the offense did not “reflect a youthful sex offense where there is probability for him to become an adult sex offender.” Appellant does not have an underlying sexual deviation or antisocial personality construct. “His unrecognized history of sexual abuse and general biologic sex drive for which he thought there was an

opportunity for consensual sex are more influential for his role in the act than characteristics found in an adult sex offender.” Dr. Salas continued,

The immaturity of [Appellant’s] adolescent brain is evident by his personal history and account of events. His diagnosis of ADHD compounds the immaturity of normal brain development. **This means that his 16-year-old brain is more compatible with the normal development of a brain two or three (or more) years younger such as that of a 13- or 14-year-old adolescent.** As an adolescent, [Appellant’s] personality construct remains unfinished. His adolescent brain is wired to trust without question and act without thinking. He desires to be accepted by others, a fact that increases his vulnerability to peer influences. His personal sexual history sets him up to misread social cues surround sex. [Appellant] has low threshold to maintain ego resilience in the face of a perceived peer rejection.

R. 125 (emphasis added).

Dr. Salas found that Appellant does have the ability and desire to conform to the bounds of the law, that he does not meet the diagnostic criteria for antisocial personality disorder, that he does not have an inherent nature to wrong or violate other people, and that he does have the ability to experience empathy and share in the perspective of another person. She found he has factors to consider for rehabilitation, including that his brain will continue to develop until his mid-twenties, that he does not have minimum, much less maximum, effective treatment of his ADHD and substance use disorders, and that his character is not fully formed. She found that he would benefit from counseling and mental health treatment and concluded that Appellant was “still impressionable with capacity to become a worthy citizen with positive contributions to society.” She further noted that Appellant expressed “deep remorse for those affected by his actions.” R. 125-126.

Dr. Salas’s testimony in court mirrored the findings laid out in her written report. At the start of her testimony, the court questioned whether she had corroborated Appellant’s statements about the incident or if she was accepting his statements as fact. Dr. Salas qualified that she does

not settle the facts, and that the truthfulness of Appellant's statements was not up for her to decide. Her assessment was made based on her evaluation of Appellant, his history, and her review of the discovery. Importantly, Dr. Salas testified that her conclusions were not based on a determination that Appellant's statements were true. The statements of Appellant were a way to "get into his brain" and the court could discount parts of the statements if they found them to be untrue. There were other factors that she relied on to reach her conclusion about Appellant's immaturity and adolescence, such as the fact that Appellant has an I.E.P. and does not think on the same level as his peers. She stressed that Appellant was "not just a sixteen-year-old. He's a sixteen-year-old with ADHD high on marijuana" and that made his brain different from the brain of a typical sixteen-year-old or even a sixteen-year-old with ADHD that was well medicated. R. 64, l. 22-R. 68, l. 19.

The court inquired about the impact of Appellant's marijuana use on his brain or actions. Dr. Salas explained that there was not much literature on the influence of marijuana because it is illegal and thus had not been extensively studied. However, she was able to inform the court that individuals who are exposed to marijuana at an early age have an increased risk of developing psychosis. She stated that marijuana use from an early age "definitely changes the brain on the negative trajectory." R. 69, ll. 1-23. She further highlighted Appellant's susceptibility to peer pressure, highlighting that he would rather struggle with his symptoms of ADHD than take medication solely to avoid peer ridicule. R. 72, ll. 12-13

Importantly, Dr. Salas testified

He is not antisocial. He is not without the capacity to experience empathy. I don't think that there is a way that his brain has matured or even in his level of educational development and understanding has come to a point where he has the words to articulate some statement of remorse in a fashion that's going to be satisfactory to the community, to the victim. I just don't see that as part of what

he's able to do. If he did, it would be in his own words, and it would probably be completely misread and misunderstood.

R. 77, l. 17-R. 78, l. 1.

Regarding premeditation, Dr. Salas explained that in her experience, adolescent offenders who premeditate their acts did not leave a trail of physical evidence against them. She noted that with premeditation, there is an element of secrecy, and you work to avoid consequences and not leave evidence behind. While teenagers may not hide evidence in the most sophisticated of ways, they typically did not leave a mountain of evidence behind, and in Appellant's case there was a mountain of physical evidence. R. 80, ll. 1-25. Dr. Salas ultimately reiterated that Appellant was still an adolescent, and that his brain was one "worth saving in terms of having something that would give an aptitude for morality to contribute positive to society." R. 84, l. 1-6.

In issuing its sentence, the circuit court touched briefly on the factors announced in Aiken v. Byars out of an abundance of caution. The court then stated it found Appellant's action to be premeditated, that he knew what he was doing was wrong, and that it was not an impulsive act at all. The court further noted and considered that it saw no evidence of remorse from Appellant. The court concluded "based on all of these -- all of these factors and the fact that with the -- this is the most heinous case the Court has ever seen with an adult victim other than a murder. And given these facts the Sentence of the Court is going to be 60 years. It's going to be consecutive sentences the state asks for." R. 114, l. 1-R. 116, l. 24.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

“When considering whether a sentence violates the Eighth Amendment's prohibition on cruel and unusual punishments, the appellate court's standard of review extends only to the correction of errors of law.” State v. Finley, 427 S.C. 419, 423, 831 S.E.2d 158, 160 (Ct. App. 2019). This court will not overturn a sentence absent an abuse of discretion. In re M.B.H., 387 S.C. 323, 326, 692 S.E.2d 541, 542 (2010). A trial court commits an abuse of discretion when it commits an error of law, makes a factual finding that lacks evidentiary support, or fails to exercise any of its vested discretion. See State v. Allen, 370 S.C. 88, 94, 634 S.E.2d 653, 656 (2006). When interpreting the Constitution, state courts must faithfully apply the Supreme Court's precedent without expanding its protections. See State v. Slocumb, 426 S.C. 297, 306, 827 S.E.2d 148, 153 (2019).

## ARGUMENT

Appellant was sixteen years old when he committed the crimes for which he is now incarcerated. He has been in the continual custody of State of South Carolina since February 15, 2019. Should he live long enough to reach his release date<sup>4</sup> in 2070, Appellant will be in his late-sixties and will have spent the majority of his life incarcerated. Appellant's current sentence constitutes a *de facto* sentence of life without the possibility of parole. Appellant asserts that his sentence violates both the United States Constitution's prohibition of cruel and unusual punishment and the South Carolina Constitution's prohibition of cruel or corporal or unusual punishment because the sentence fails to give Appellant any realistic, meaningful opportunity to gain release based on maturity and rehabilitation.

### I.

Appellant's sentence of an aggregate term of sixty-years' imprisonment, a *de facto* life sentence, for non-homicide offenses he committed as a juvenile during a single incident is violative of the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution.

In Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551 (2005), Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48 (2010), and Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460 (2012), the United States Supreme Court methodically evolved the jurisprudence surrounding the propriety of applying an adult punishment to a juvenile offender. The Roper Court held that, under the Eighth Amendment, the execution of juveniles constituted cruel and unusual punishment. Five years later in Graham, the Supreme Court held that the Eighth Amendment prohibited life without parole (LWOP) sentences for juvenile offenders convicted of nonhomicide offenses **and** that States must give juvenile non-homicide offenders sentenced to LWOP a meaningful opportunity to obtain release. Then in Miller, the

---

<sup>4</sup> This information is taken from the South Carolina Department of Corrections website and can be found at <https://public.doc.state.sc.us/scdc-public/inmateDetails.do?id=%2000385746>

Court held that mandatory LWOP sentences for juvenile homicide offenders violated the Eighth Amendment.

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