RECEIVED

Nov 13 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from York County
Honorable William A. McKinnon, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2021-001316

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

TERRY SHAIMEK TYLER,

Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

KEVIN S. BRACKETT
Solicitor, Sixteenth Judicial Circuit

1675-1A York Highway
Moss Justice Center
York, SC 29745
(803) 628-3020

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

A State is not required to guarantee eventual freedom to a juvenile offender convicted of a nonhomicide crime. What the State must do, however, is give defendants like Graham some meaningful opportunity for release based on demonstrated maturity and rehabilitation. It is for the State, in the first instance, to explore the means and mechanisms for compliance. It bears emphasis, however, that while the Eighth Amendment forbids a State from imposing a life without parole sentence on a juvenile nonhomicide offender, it does not require the State to release that offender during his natural life. Those who commit truly horrifying crimes as juveniles may turn out to be irredeemable, and thus deserving of incarceration for the duration of their lives. The Eighth Amendment does not foreclose the possibility that persons convicted of nonhomicide crimes committed before adulthood will remain behind bars for life. It does forbid the State from making

¹¹ Regarding the specifics of the criminal activity and sentence involved in *Graham*, Graham committed armed burglary with assault or battery and attempted armed robbery when he was sixteen years old, and he subsequently pled guilty to those crimes. *Id.*, 560 U.S. at 53-54. Thereafter, Graham received a probationary sentence, was released, and violated the terms of his probation by engaging in additional crimes. *Id.* at 55-56. Subsequently, based on the probation violation, a trial judge “sentenced [Graham] to the maximum sentence authorized by law on each charge: *life imprisonment for the armed burglary* and 15 years for the attempted armed robbery[,]” and Graham was not eligible for release by any means other than executive clemency under Florida law. *Id.* at 57 (emphasis added). Thus, Graham—unlike Appellant—received an actual life without parole sentence for the *single* non-homicide offense of armed burglary.

the judgment at the outset that those offenders never will be fit to reenter society.

Id. at 75.

Subsequent to the decision in Graham, numerous appellate courts across the country have struggled with the question of whether the Supreme Court’s holding in that case is applicable to lengthy term-of-years sentences for juvenile non-homicide offenders even though such sentences are not actually sentences of life without parole. Many of the appellate courts considering the question have concluded the holding in Graham does *not* apply to term-of-years sentences for juvenile non-homicide offenders due to the fact the decision in Graham was expressly limited to actual life without parole sentences. See Bunch v. Smith, 685 F.3d 546, 552 (6th Cir. 2012) (finding Bunch’s eighty-nine-aggregate sentence did not clearly violate Graham even though it may have been the functional equivalent of a life without parole sentence and noting the Supreme Court’s analysis in Graham did not address such a situation); State v. Soto-Fong, 474 P.3d 34, 36 (Ariz. 2020) (“We consider whether consecutive sentences imposed for separate crimes, when the cumulative sentences exceed a juvenile’s life expectancy, violate the Eighth Amendment’s prohibition against ‘cruel and unusual punishment.’ We conclude that such de facto life sentences do not violate the Eighth Amendment.”); Lucero v. People, 394 P.3d 1128, 1130 (Colo. 2017) (concluding a juvenile offender’s aggregate eighty-four-year sentence for multiple non-homicide crimes was not unconstitutional pursuant to Graham); Adams v. State, 707 S.E.2d 359, 365 (Ga. 2011) (finding the decision in Graham did not categorically bar anything other than life without parole sentences for juvenile non-homicide offenders); State v. Brown, 118 So. 3d 332, 341-342 (La. 2013) (“In our view, Graham does not prohibit consecutive term of year sentences for multiple offenses committed while a defendant was under the age of 18, even if they might exceed a defendant’s lifetime, and, absent any further guidance from the

United States Supreme Court, we defer to the legislature which has the constitutional authority to authorize such sentences.”); Willbanks v. Dep’t of Corr., 522 S.W.3d 238, 246-247 (Mo. 2017) (holding a juvenile offender’s aggregate sentence for non-homicide crimes that would prevent him from having any opportunity for release until he was eighty-five years old did not violate the Eighth Amendment); Vasquez v. Commonwealth, 781 S.E.2d 920, 925 (Va. 2016) (“Vasquez and Valentin do not contend that their various term-of-years sentences violate the case-by-case approach to judging disproportionate sentences under the Eighth Amendment. They instead argue only that we should expand Graham’s prohibition of life-without-parole sentences to non-life sentences that, when aggregated, exceed the normal life spans of juvenile offenders. For several reasons, we decline the invitation to do so.”); see also Graham, 560 U.S. at 63 (“The instant case concerns *only* those juvenile offenders sentenced to life without parole solely for a nonhomicide offense.” (emphasis added)). Meanwhile, other appellate courts have reached a different conclusion and have found term-of-years sentences carrying the same practical effect as life sentences violate the Graham decision’s explicit prohibition against life without parole sentences for juvenile non-homicide offenders. See Budder v. Addison, 851 F.3d 1047, 1057 (10th Cir. 2017) (“[W]e conclude, the sentencing practice that was the Court’s focus in Graham was any sentence that denies a juvenile nonhomicide offender a realistic opportunity to obtain release in his or her lifetime, whether or not that sentence bears the specific label ‘life without parole.’ ”); People v. Caballero, 282 P.3d 291, 295 (Cal. 2012) (concluding based on Graham “that sentencing a juvenile offender for a nonhomicide offense to a term of years with a parole eligibility date that falls outside the juvenile offender’s natural life expectancy constitutes cruel and unusual punishment”); Henry v. State, 175 So. 3d 675, 679-680 (Fla. 2015) (“Because Henry’s aggregate sentence, which totals ninety years and requires him to be imprisoned until he

is at least nearly ninety-five years old, does not afford him this opportunity, that sentence is unconstitutional under Graham.”); State v. Boston, 363 P.3d 453, 459 (Nev. 2015) (“[W]e agree with the district court’s reasoning—that Graham precludes aggregate sentences that constitute the functional equivalent of life without the possibility of parole against nonhomicide juvenile offenders[.]”); State v. Zuber, 152 A.3d 197, 215 (N.J. 2017) (concluding a juvenile non-homicide offender’s aggregate sentence of one-hundred-ten years was unconstitutional); State v. Moore, 76 N.E.3d 1127, 1128-1129 (Ohio 2016) (“We hold that pursuant to Graham, a term-of-years prison sentence that exceeds a defendant’s life expectancy violates the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution when it is imposed on a juvenile nonhomicide offender.”).

Critically, in State v. Slocumb, 426 S.C. 297, 299, 827 S.E.2d 148, 149 (2019), our Supreme Court addressed that question when it was confronted with the issue of whether an aggregate *one-hundred-thirty-year* sentence imposed upon a juvenile offender for multiple distinct non-homicide offenses was unconstitutional. In that case, Slocumb—three years after he was incarcerated for an earlier kidnapping, rape, and shooting he committed at the age of thirteen—escaped from custody and committed a brutal rape and robbery of a woman he stumbled upon at an apartment complex. Id. at 299-300, 827 S.E.2d at 149. Ultimately, in connection to his second set of offenses, Slocumb received an aggregate sentence of one-hundred-thirty years, and he eventually filed a petition for a writ of certiorari in the Supreme Court’s original jurisdiction challenging the propriety of that sentence. Id. at 302, 827 S.E.2d at 150-151. Upon considering the matter, the Supreme Court granted the petition and declined to overturn Slocumb’s sentence through a divided decision. Id. at 314-315, 827 S.E.2d at 157. In denying relief, the majority concluded neither the United States Supreme Court’s decision in Graham nor the Eighth Amendment prohibited the imposition of aggregate sentences for

multiple offenses amounting to a de facto life sentence on a juvenile non-homicide offender. Id. As support for that conclusion, the majority recognized the limited nature of Graham's holding, which categorically barred only de jure life without parole sentences for juvenile non-homicide offenders, and correctly concluded it was bound to adhere to that binding precedent. Id. at 307-308, 827 S.E.2d at 153-154.

In the case sub judice, Appellant was *not* sentenced to a life without parole sentence for a non-homicide offense. See Graham, 560 U.S. at 63 (“The instant case concerns only those juvenile offenders sentenced to life without parole solely for a nonhomicide offense.”); cf. Bonilla v. State, 791 N.W.2d 697, 703 (Iowa 2010) (recognizing a juvenile non-homicide offender’s sentence violated the Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution under Graham because it was a sentence of life without parole). Instead, similar to Slocumb, Appellant was sentenced to consecutive terms of imprisonment for a multitude of distinct and gravely-serious crimes with all his individual sentences falling within the permissible sentencing limits for those offenses. See Lucero, 394 P.3d at 1133 (“Multiple sentences imposed for multiple offenses do not become a sentence of life without parole, even though they may result in a lengthy term of incarceration. Life without parole is a specific sentence, imposed as punishment for a single crime, which remains distinct from aggregate term-of-years sentences resulting from multiple convictions. . . . If we were to consider instead the aggregate sentence, as Lucero argues we must, ‘the result would be the possibility that a defendant could generate an Eighth Amendment disproportionality claim simply because that defendant had engaged in repeated criminal activity.’ ” (citation omitted)); see also Coker v. Georgia, 433 U.S. 584, 597 (1977) (plurality opinion) (“[Rape] is highly reprehensible, both in a moral sense and in its almost total contempt for the personal integrity and autonomy of the female victim and for the latter’s

privilege of choosing those with whom intimate relationships are to be established. Short of homicide, it is the ‘ultimate violation of self.’ ” (footnote omitted)); State v. Johnson, 350 S.C. 543, 547, 567 S.E.2d 486, 488 (Ct. App. 2002) (“[F]ew would argue that first-degree burglary, *armed robbery*, and *kidnapping* are anything other than grave offenses of the ‘most serious’ nature.” (emphasis added)). In fact, Appellant was only sentenced on average to a *ten-year* term of imprisonment for each offense when his total number of offenses is taken into account. Cf. Slocumb, 426 S.C. at 155, 827 S.E.2d at 310 (“For these crimes, Slocumb received an average per-crime sentence of twenty-six years’ imprisonment.”). Therefore, because Appellant was *not* sentenced to life without parole for a non-homicide offense, the decision in Graham did not render Appellant’s aggregate sentence unconstitutional just as it did not render Slocumb’s so. See Slocumb, 426 S.C. at 314-315, 827 S.E.2d at 157 (declining to find Slocumb’s aggregate one-hundred-thirty-year sentence for multiple offenses was violative of Graham); cf. United States v. Walton, 537 F. App’x 430, 437 (5th Cir. 2013) (recognizing neither the decision in Graham nor the decision in Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460 (2012), was applicable to a discretionary term-of-years sentence).

In challenging the constitutionality of his aggregate sentence, Appellant—much like Slocumb before him—contends his aggregate sixty-year sentence was and is unconstitutional because it is purportedly the functional equivalent of a life without parole sentence even though he did not actually receive one. Based on that contention, Appellant—like Slocumb—effectively asks this Court to extend the Graham decision beyond its express limits, apply it to consecutive term-of-years sentences such as his own, and find his aggregate sentence to be categorically unconstitutional. Cf. Willbanks, 522 S.W.3d at 246 (“The Supreme Court has never held that consecutive lengthy sentences for multiple crimes in excess of a juvenile’s life expectancy is the

functional equivalent of life without parole. The dissent acknowledges that its analysis is an extension of the law.”). However, just as a majority of our Supreme Court recognized in Slocumb, the Graham decision cannot properly be—and should not be—extended beyond the express limits the United States Supreme Court placed upon its holding in that case. See Slocumb, 426 S.C. at 307, 827 S.E.2d at 153 (declining to extend the holding of Graham and recognizing “we are duty-bound to enforce the Eighth Amendment consistent with the Supreme Court’s directives”).

Critically, through its express language, the United States Supreme Court limited the decision in Graham to life without parole sentences for juvenile non-homicide offenders alone. See Graham, 560 U.S. at 74 (holding the Eighth Amendment prohibits juvenile non-homicide offenders from being sentenced to life without parole sentences and indicating the holding is a “clear line”); cf. Moore, 76 N.E.3d at 1134 (“The court did not address in Graham whether a term-of-years prison sentence that extends beyond an offender’s life expectancy—a functional life sentence—falls under the Graham categorical bar.”). Because its focus was limited in that manner, the Supreme Court in Graham did not analyze any information regarding the number of jurisdictions with sentencing practices that permitted circuit court judges to sentence juvenile offenders to lengthy or consecutive term-of-years sentences exceeding the offenders’ projected life expectancies, and it was unnecessary for the Supreme Court to do so. See Bunch, 685 F.3d at 552 (“The [United States Supreme Court in Graham] did not analyze sentencing laws or actual sentencing practices regarding consecutive, fixed-term sentences for juvenile non-homicide offenders. This demonstrates that the Court did not even consider the constitutionality of such sentences, let alone clearly establish that they can violate the Eighth Amendment’s prohibition on cruel and unusual punishments.”). Likewise, the Supreme Court in Graham also did not

analyze or consider any information regarding the number of juvenile offenders across the country that had already been sentenced to and were actually serving term-of-years sentences that would exceed their natural life expectancies. See Vasquez, 781 S.E.2d at 925 (“Nowhere did Graham address multiple term-of-years sentences imposed on multiple crimes that, by virtue of the accumulation, exceeded the criminal defendant’s life expectancy.”). As a result, since the Supreme Court itself did not consider the constitutionality of term-of-years sentences in the Graham decision, the Supreme Court’s conclusions regarding life without parole sentences in that decision cannot fairly or reasonably be extended to a sentencing practice that was not analyzed, explored, or addressed by the Supreme Court.¹² See Graham, 560 U.S. at 124 (Alito, J., dissenting) (“Nothing in the Court’s opinion affects the imposition of a sentence to a term of years without the possibility of parole.”); see also Cohens v. Virginia, 19 U.S. 264, 399-400 (1821) (“It is a maxim not to be disregarded, that general expressions, in every opinion, are to be taken in connection with the case in which those expressions are used. If they go beyond the case, they may be respected, but ought not to control the judgment in a subsequent suit when the very point is presented for decision.”).

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